S209927

SEP 1 0 2013

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

WILLIAM B. WEBB AND JACQUELINE V. WEBB,
APPELLANTS,

V.

SPECIAL ELECTRIC COMPANY, INC.,

RESPONDENT.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION ONE

CASE NO. B233189

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, CASE NO. BC436063 HON. JOHN SHEPARD WILEY

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Edward R. Hugo [Bar No. 124839]
ehugo@bhplaw.com
James C. Parker [Bar No. 106149]
jparker@bhplaw.com
Jeffrey Kaufman [Bar No. 48095]
jkaufman@bhplaw.com
Josette D. Johnson [Bar No. 195977]
jjohnson@bhplaw.com
BRYDON HUGO & PARKER
135 Main Street, 20th Floor

STATEMENT OF ISSUES FROM PETITION

- 1. Is it a tort not to warn a manufacturer of hazards the manufacturer already knows?
- 2. Is it a tort not to impose a contractual obligation to warn upon a manufacturer, when the manufacturer already owes a tort duty to warn?
- 3. May those associated with but not actually part of the chain of distribution, such as a broker, rely upon those within the chain, such as the manufacturer, to warn end users of hazards, especially when those outside the chain have no reasonable means to warn the end users?
- 4. Absent a reason to believe otherwise, may a broker presume a manufacturer will warn end users of hazards, especially when the broker has no reasonable means to warn the end users?
- 5. If they are not in the chain of distribution and do not profit from the end product, are brokers subject to strict products liability?
- 6. If there was no duty to warn, can a general negligence verdict be sustained if the only form of negligence was a failure to warn?
- 7. If there is no prejudice, may a trial court rule after a verdict upon otherwise valid pre-verdict motions for nonsuit and directed verdict?
- 8. Alternatively, if there is no prejudice, may a trial court deem otherwise valid motions for nonsuit and directed verdict as motions for judgment notwithstanding the verdict (JNOV), and rule upon them before expiration of the time for filing a motion for new trial?

I. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

In the 1970's a South African mining company sold crocidolite asbestos to Johns-Manville Co. – at that time one of the most knowledgeable companies in the country concerning the hazards of asbestos. Some of that crocidolite may have found its way into vent pipe made at Johns-Manville's Long Beach, CA plant. The vent pipe was sold, indirectly, to a Canoga Park plumbing supply store which employed plaintiff William Webb. Four decades later Webb developed pleural mesothelioma, which he attributed, in part, to handling the Johns-Manville pipe. Plaintiffs sued a Wisconsin company that had brokered the mining company's sale of crocidolite to Johns-Manville.

Plaintiffs won a verdict against the broker, Special Electric Co. ("Special Electric"). After the verdict, the trial court granted Special Electric's timely filed and deferred motions for nonsuit and directed verdict and deemed them motions for judgment notwithstanding the verdict. The Court of Appeal reversed, 2-1, ruling that Special Electric owed a duty to (1) warn Johns-Manville of the potential hazards of asbestos, (2) contractually compel Johns-Manville to warn downstream users and consumers, and (3) warn William Webb personally of those hazards. As summarized by the dissent, "[t]he Majority holds that it can be a tort to fail to tell someone something they already know, and that it can also be a tort to fail to impose on someone a contractual duty to do something they already have a tort duty to do." (Dissent 1.)

The Court of Appeal also ruled that a trial court could not grant a JNOV before the time had expired to file a motion for new trial, or *sua sponte* grant a JNOV without first filing and serving a written notice. It found these technical errors required reversal even without addressing

prejudice. As the dissent aptly noted, Plaintiffs themselves did not advocate the position adopted and there is no legal precedent for it. (Dissent 9.)

The decision of the Court of Appeal should be reversed and the trial court's original rulings reinstated. This case squarely presents an opportunity for this Court to clarify the scope of the duty to warn, to expand the sophisticated user rule to include sophisticated purchasers/intermediaries, and to confirm the discretion of trial judges concerning the timing of rulings on nonsuit and directed verdict motions. Special Electric asks this Court to rule as follows:

- 1. A broker or supplier of a component or ingredient does not owe a duty to warn a sophisticated purchaser of the hazards of that component or ingredient when the purchaser already appreciates those hazards, nor is the broker or supplier required to contractually compel the sophisticated purchaser or manufacturer to communicate warnings to downstream users when the purchaser already owes a duty to warn, unless the broker or supplier has both reason to believe that the purchaser will not convey adequate warnings and a practical means of communicating warnings to downstream users.
- 2. A broker or supplier does not owe a duty to warn downstream users of the potential hazards in a finished product when the broker or supplier is not a part of the chain of distribution for the finished product, the manufacturer already owes a duty to warn, and the broker or supplier has no practical ability to communicate a warning to downstream users.
- 3. Absent a showing of undue prejudice, a trial court will not be reversed for having exercised discretion to delay, until after the jury has

returned a verdict, the grant of otherwise timely and proper motions for nonsuit or directed verdict.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. SPECIAL ELECTRIC WAS A BROKER OF ASBESTOS FIBER TO A SOUTH AFRICAN MINING COMPANY

Special Materials-Wisconsin brokered the sale of the crocidolite asbestos. (6 RT 1652:16-17; 1667:25-27-1668:3; 1759:11-16; 10 RT 2723:26-2724-3.) The Webbs alleged that Special Electric was a joint venturer with, and therefore responsible for all tortious conduct of, Special Materials; for purposes of this brief and without waiver or concession we refer to "Special Electric," though Special Materials was the company which actually handled the transactions. ¹

Special Electric was located in Wisconsin and acted as a broker for Central Asbestos Company, located in South Africa. The Johns-Manville employee that dealt with Special Electric considered it a "broker." (9 RT 2586:9-12, 2592:17-2593:2, 2595:2-14; 2638:19-2639:2.) When it wanted crocidolite, Johns-Manville would issue a purchase order, Special Electric would provide Johns-Manville with shipment information, and Central Asbestos would ship the crocidolite and pay Special Electric a commission. (6 RT 1663:3-12; 9 RT 2592:17-2593:2.)

The bags were shipped directly from South Africa to Long Beach. (6 RT 1658:1-9.) Special Electric never had possession of any asbestos. (6 RT

¹ Special Electric Company, incorporated in 1957, was in the electrical insulation business. (6 RT 1652:16-17; 1667:25-26.) Special Materials-Wisconsin was incorporated in 1969 as "Special Asbestos;" the name changed in 1976. (6 RT 1673:21-1674:1, 1759:8-10, 1760:16-18.)

1658:5-9.) In the 1970's, Johns-Manville's purchase orders required that the crocidolite come shipped in special polywoven bags with a warning printed on them. (6 RT 1162:2-21; 1665:14-1666:3; 1670:6-20.)

As discussed below, Johns-Manville had numerous sources for the supply of crocidolite and the South African mining company was not an exclusive supplier to Johns-Manville.

B. JOHNS-MANVILLE WAS A SOPHISTICATED PURCHASER OF ASBESTOS AND A SOPHISTICATED MANUFACTURER OF ASBESTOS -CONTAINING PRODUCTS

Johns-Manville began manufacturing asbestos-containing products in the 1850's. (9 RT 2644:22-2645:1, 2645:14-18.) It made numerous asbestos-containing products, including cements, millboard, residential siding, roofing products, flooring, insulation and Transite pipe. (5 RT 1443:26-1444:25; 9 RT 2627:7-14, 2619:25-2620:7.) "Transite" was a Johns-Manville trademark that became a generic term for asbestos cement pipe. (8 RT 2105:23-2106:17.)

Johns-Manville's vast knowledge of asbestos is undisputed. By the 1970's, Johns-Manville had grown to 30,000 employees and operated numerous plants and asbestos mines in North America and overseas, including the Jeffrey Mine in Quebec, one of the world's largest sources of asbestos. (9 RT 2616:20-2617:6; RT 2645:4-12; 5 RT 1441:25-1442:2.) Its pipe division included six plants processing a variety of types of asbestos for manufacturing pipes. (9 RT 2627:7-14, 2619:25-2620:7.) Johns-Manville's research and development department knew "all the characteristics of asbestos, even chemically-wise." (9 RT 2645:19-2646:13.)

Plaintiffs' industrial hygienist agreed Johns-Manville knew the potential health hazards of asbestos by the 1930's. (8 RT 2104:1-9.)

Plaintiffs' epidemiologist studied Johns-Manville, interviewed its employees, and toured a Johns-Manville asbestos cement plant and asbestos mine and milling operation. (5 RT 1224:11-1225:15, 1439:1-1440:8, 1441:8-20, 1441:21-24, 1442:6-16.) He agreed Johns-Manville was an industry leader and no company in the United States had greater knowledge about asbestos. (5 RT 1446:18-1447:1, 1447:2-1447:10.)

As a long-time asbestos mine owner and manufacturer, Johns-Manville knew how to handle asbestos. By the 1970's it had well-established asbestos safety practices in place. (9 RT 2647:1-9.) Johns-Manville purchased "a lot of types of fiber" from numerous sources. (9 RT 2642:5-8.) Johns-Manville did not look to brokers, including Special Electric, for information about asbestos. (9 RT 2647:10-19.) Special Electric could not have told Johns-Manville anything about asbestos that Johns-Manville did not already know. (9 RT 2651:3-6.) Johns-Manville schooled Special Electric about asbestos. (9 RT 2646:14-21.) The Court of Appeal agreed: "No one on this appeal doubts that Johns-Manville was a sophisticated user of asbestos, who needed no warning about its dangers." (Opinion ["Op."] 17.)

C. IT IS SPECULATION THAT WEBB WAS EXPOSED TO CROCIDOLITE BROKERED BY SPECIAL ELECTRIC

At its Long Beach plant, Johns-Manville made a variety of products, including "Transite" vent pipe. The formula for Transite vent pipe included chrysotile but not crocidolite, though trace amounts of crocidolite may have found their way into the vent pipe because the plant would mix in scrap pipe whose formulas had included crocidolite. (8 RT 2365:21-2368:16; 9 RT 2423:4-2424:21, 2427:5-10, 2453:18-26; 8 RT 2106:28-2107:24.)

Not all scraps were recycled and some were disposed at dumpsites. (RT 2454:9-17). At most, less than 1% of the actual final blend of Transite vent pipe might be crocidolite. (9 RT 2440:24-26.)

Johns-Manville sold its Transite vent pipe to numerous companies, including Familian Pile & Supply, which in turn sold to Pyramid Pipe & Supply where William Webb worked. (3 RT 653:24-654:7; 4 RT 1166:23-1167:5.)² Transite pipe was a small percentage of Pyramid's overall sales, and among the smallest of the various pipes it marketed. (3 RT 686:1-8; 4 RT 1171:6-10.) Webb's "guesstimate" is that Pyramid carried the pipe for about ten years, maybe less. (3 RT 696:1-697:8, 697:13-25.) Starting in 1969, Webb at Pyramid occasionally handled Transite pipe, which he claims had no warnings. (3 RT 642:22-643:7, 649:19-21, 658:9-12; 650:6-10, 652:19-23, 685:17-28; 4 RT 1113:24-27, 1163:25-1164:1, 1170:19-24; 3 RT 667:17-24, 694:20-23.)

In January 2011, William Webb was diagnosed with mesothelioma, a fatal cancer of the lining of the lung. He and his wife Jacqueline commenced this action against Special Electric and others for strict products liability and negligence, claiming that the mesothelioma was caused by exposure to asbestos from multiple sources, including crocidolite in Transite vent pipe. (3 RT 606:2-616:6, 609:12-24, 621:7-11, 624:17-626:27, 628:24-630:1.)

² There are no records available at Pyramid or Familian to show when Pyramid purchased the Transite pipe. (3 RT 697:26-698:23.)

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. TRIAL COURT PROCEEDINGS

At trial, after Plaintiffs rested, Special Electric timely moved for nonsuit on Plaintiffs' failure-to-warn theories. The trial court deferred ruling on the motion. Subsequently, the parties briefed the issues. (1 Appellants' Appendix ("App.") at 62, 77, 151; 18 RT 6602:7-6603:1; 11 RT 3003:28-3304:3.) After both sides rested, Special Electric timely moved for a directed verdict. The court deferred ruling so the parties could brief that motion as well. (1 App. at 68, 176.)

The jury returned a verdict on February 17, 2011 in favor of Special Electric on Plaintiffs' design defect (consumer expectations) theory, but against Special Electric on strict liability failure-to-warn and negligence. (1 App. at 143.) The next day, February 18, 2011, Special Electric requested a hearing on its nonsuit and directed verdict motions, which the court set for March 16.³ At the hearing the court at Plaintiffs' request set a further briefing schedule. Supplemental briefs were filed and at the subsequent hearing the court granted both motions and, in the alternative, deemed them a motion for JNOV, and granted that motion. (1 App. at 196; 2 App. at 309; 383.) Judgment was entered for Special Electric and Plaintiffs appealed. (2 App. at 384; 404)

³ The February 18, 2011 minute order states that Special Electric's motions were denied; they were not, as confirmed by the reporter's transcript. (*In re Merrick V.* (2004) 122 Cal.App.4th 235, 249.)

B. COURT OF APPEAL OPINION

1. THE MAJORITY DECISION

The Second District reversed, holding that Special Electric had a duty to warn Johns-Manville, and a duty to warn Webb. (Op. 18-22.) The majority also found that Special Electric's motions did not reach the verdict on negligence, and judgment in favor of Plaintiffs was warranted on that cause of action. (Op. 29-32.)

The majority also held that the trial court had no authority to rule on Special Electric's nonsuit and directed verdict motions once the verdict was returned; the trial court could rule on those motions once the time to move for a new trial had expired but failed to give proper written notice of intent to grant a JNOV on its own motion. (Op. 10-15.)

2. THE DISSENT

Justice Rothschild dissented to the entire Opinion.

There was no tortious failure to warn Johns-Manville because, as the majority admitted, "Johns-Manville was a sophisticated user of asbestos, who needed no warning about its dangers." (Op. 17.) (Op. 17), and it is not a tort to fail to tell someone something they already know. (*Johnson v. American Standard, Inc.* (2008) 43 Cal.4th 56, 67.) (Dissent 2-3.) Not warning William Webb was not tortious because the Webbs had never contended Special Electric could or should have personally warned him, ⁴ and Special Electric could presume that, absent evidence to the contrary, Johns-Manville would honor its own pre-existing tort duty to warn Webb. (Dissent 3-4.) Moreover, any failure to warn Johns-Manville or impose a contractual duty on Johns-Manville to warn end-users was not a cause of

⁴ Plaintiffs' counsel confirmed this disclaimer. (Answer to Petition for Review at 13-14.)

Webb's mesothelioma, as there was no evidence that Johns-Manville would have heeded a contractual duty any more than its tort duty. (Dissent 6-8.)

The majority's procedural holdings meant the trial court could grant timely motions for nonsuit and directed verdict *except*, oddly, during the interregnum between the return of the verdict and expiration of the time to move for a new trial. In the absence of authority or any showing of prejudice that holding is incorrect. (Dissent 8-11.)

Finally, the dissent agreed with Special Electric that there was no "substantial evidence that Webb was exposed to asbestos *supplied by Special Electric.*" (Dissent 12; emphasis in original.)

3. PETITION FOR REHEARING

A Petition for Rehearing was timely filed. The court changed a factual statement⁵ in its Opinion but denied the request for rehearing.

IV. ARGUMENT

- A. A BROKER OR SUPPLIER SHOULD NOT HAVE A DUTY TO
 WARN A SOPHISTICATED MANUFACTURER OF HAZARDS THE
 MANUFACTURER ALREADY APPRECIATES
- THE PURPOSE OF THE DUTY TO WARN
 Plaintiff bears the burden of proving that a warning was owed by a

⁵ According to the Order, "Asbestos" was removed from the company name "inferably in order to distance itself from what consumers were coming to learn was a dangerous product." (Order at 1.) No evidence supports the statement that the name was changed to "Special Electric" or the inference that "Asbestos" was removed for marketing reasons. (See n. 1 and Discussion at IV.E, *infra*.)

defendant. (*Taylor v. Elliott Turbomachinery Co., Inc.* (2009) 171 Cal.App.4th 564, 576.) The purpose of a warning is to inform users of dangers unknown to them. "The user of the product must be given the option either to refrain from using the product at all or to use it in such a way as to minimize the degree of danger." (*Johnson, supra*, 43 Cal.4th at 65, citing *Anderson v. Owens-Corning Fiberglas Corp.* (1991) 53 Cal.3d 987, 1003.)

Products liability law has developed exceptions to this duty, including the obvious danger rule, the raw materials/ bulk supplier doctrine, and the sophisticated user and the sophisticated purchaser/learned intermediary doctrines.

Several California appellate courts have applied the raw materials/bulk suppler doctrine (e.g., *Groll v. Shell Oil* (1983) 148

Cal.App.3d 444, 448-449), and this Court has directly accepted the "obvious danger" and sophisticated purchaser defenses. The obvious danger rule holds that "there is no need to warn of known risks under either a negligence or strict liability theory." (*Johnson*, *supra*, 43 Cal.4th at 67; Comment k to Section 388 subdivision (b) of the Restatement (Second) Torts; *Taylor*, *supra*, at 577; *Bojorquez v. House of Toys*, *Inc.* (1976) 62

Cal.App.3d 930, 933-934 [dangers of slingshots so obvious warnings are unnecessary].)

The obvious danger rule is the basis of the sophisticated user defense: "A manufacturer is not liable to a sophisticated user of its product for failure to warn of a risk, harm, or danger, if the sophisticated user knew or should have known of that risk, harm, or danger." (*Johnson*, *supra*, 43 Cal.4th at 71 [HVAC manufacturers and technicians have known of dangers of phosgene gas since 1931, hence no warning of phosgene gas was required for plaintiff-technician].) Both the sophisticated user and

obvious danger defenses negate the causation element of a failure-to-warn theory; not warning a sophisticated user about dangers he already appreciates is not a legal cause of any harm that may result. (*Id.*) "The user's knowledge of the dangers is the equivalent of prior notice." (*Id.*, citing Billiar v. Minnesota Mining and Mfg. Co., 623 F.2d 240, 243 (2nd Cir. 1980) ["[N]o one needs notice of that which he already knows"].)

The court below ruled that Special Electric owed a duty to warn Johns-Manville about the hazards of asbestos. The facts are indisputable, however, that Johns-Manville knew all about asbestos. "From the 1920s to the 1970s, Manville was, by most accounts, the largest supplier of raw asbestos and manufacturer of asbestos-containing products in the United States." (*Travelers Indem. Co. v. Bailey*, 557 U.S. 137, 140 (2009).) Johns-Manville was fully aware of the nature and hazards of asbestos. Johns-Manville prescribed not only polywoven bags specially designed to contain the fiber, but also the language of the warnings to appear on each bag. (1 AA 208:21-23 and Exh. E thereto at 2 AA 284-285.) The Court of Appeal recognized Johns-Manville "was a sophisticated user of asbestos who needed no warning about its dangers." (Op. 17.) What could Special Electric have told Johns-Manville about asbestos that Johns-Manville did not already know? Under the reasoning of *Johnson*, Special Electric had no duty to warn a knowledgeable purchaser such as Johns-Manville.

⁶ Plaintiffs' counsel even argued: "Johns-Manville contractually required a warning to be on a bag of asbestos," and "Johns-Manville required that the South African mining concern put a particular warning on the bag of asbestos." (18 RT 6916:4-22.) Whether all the bags contained an adequate warning (Op. 17) is irrelevant; Johns-Manville's extraordinary knowledge of asbestos was so superior to that of Special Electric's that it already knew the warnings.

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