SUPREME COURT FILED

DEC -9 2013

IN THE

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

Deputy

WILLIAM B. WEBB and JACQUELINE V. WEBB,

Plaintiffs, Appellants, and Respondents,

v.

SPECIAL ELECTRIC COMPANY, INC.,

Defendant, Respondent, and Petitioner.

AFTER DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION ONE, NO. B233189; ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, HONORABLE JOHN SHEPARD WILEY, JUDGE, NO. BC436063

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

DEAN A. HANLEY (SBN 169507) ANTHONY E. VIEIRA (SBN 175767) PAUL & HANLEY LLP 1608 Fourth Street, Suite 300 Berkeley, CA 94710 Tel: (510) 559-9980

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

The distinction is significant. The sophisticated-user defense nullifies liability on proof of just one element: the sophistication of the product's end user who was harmed. And this makes sense in the "user" context. The purpose of the warning requirement is to protect the end user. A user who knows the hazard needs no protection – and accordingly the supplier's failure to warn causes no harm. Thus, no matter the other circumstances, the factual finding of the end user's sophistication negates liability.

⁹ Although the user's sophistication clearly obviates the supplier's failure-to-warn liability, *Johnson* leaves unclear whether this means that the supplier had "no duty" to warn, or that its failure to fulfill its duty did not proximately "cause" the user's harm. *Cf. Johnson*, 43 Cal.4th at 61, 65 ("negate a manufacturer's duty to warn"), 68 ("the failure to warn" is "not the legal cause of any harm"). CACI 1244 is noncommittal: supplier "not responsible." This Court should clarify that the defense rests on a lack of causation – not lack of duty. A supplier always has a duty to warn about its product's hazards. When a specific, injured user proves to have been

But that result does not make sense when the "sophisticated" entity is an intermediary. As comment n makes clear, even when an intermediary knows the "information" about the product's hazard, the "question remains" whether there is a "reasonable assurance" that the "information will reach those whose safety depends on their having it." Rest.2d (Torts) § 388, cmt. $n (2^{nd} \text{ par.})$. Thus, the sophisticated-intermediary defense properly requires two independent factual findings: (1) a warning; plus (2) reasonable reliance. ¹⁰

Although Special Electric asserts that Johns-Manville's "sophistication" satisfied the first element (giving a warning), that is not enough. *Pfeifer* says it best: the "intermediary's sophistication is not, as [a] matter of law, sufficient to avert liability." *Pfeifer*, 164 Cal.Rptr.3d at 132. The supplier must show also that it had "sufficient reason for believing that the intermediary's sophistication [was] likely to operate to protect the user." *Id.*

Whether such reliance was reasonable varies with the circumstances. As comment n notes, when an intermediary would be "deprive[d]" of a business "advantage" by passing on a warning, the supplier has "reason to expect" the intermediary will <u>not</u> warn. Rest.2d (Torts) § 388, cmt. n (3rd

sophisticated about the hazard, it does not suggest that the supplier had no duty to protect its customers. Instead, it establishes that, in the particular instance, the supplier's breach of its duty did not cause the particular user's harm. This is consistent with the defense's status as a fact question for the jury. *See Johnson*, 43 Cal.4th at 75; CACI 1244. A jury's factual finding of sophistication cannot properly be said to negate duty – a legal question for the court.

¹⁰ See Macias, 10 Cal.4th at 853 ("reasonably rely upon an intermediary" to "convey any necessary warnings"); Stewart, 190 Cal.App.4th at 29-30 ("rely upon the intermediary"); Torres, 49 Cal.App.4th at 21 ("issue for the jury"); Persons, 217 Cal.App.3d at 175 (assess intermediary's "reliability").

par.). Moreover, if the potential harm is severe, a warning to the user is so important that it may be unreasonable ever to rely on an intermediary to warn. *Id.* (last par.).

These are all factual questions to be asked of the jury.

This Court should adopt the sophisticated-intermediary defense, as articulated in comment n and case law culminating in *Pfeifer*, as a factual question for the jury.¹¹

2. The sophisticated-intermediary defense does not nullify Special Electric's liability for failure to warn.

Applied here, the sophisticated-intermediary defense does not nullify failure-to-warn liability because Special Electric (1) forfeited the defense by failing to present it to the trial court or the jury, and (2) failed to present evidence of the defense's elements (warning or reliance), let alone undisputed evidence warranting JNOV.

a. Special Electric forfeited the sophisticatedintermediary defense.

Special Electric forfeited the sophisticated-intermediary defense by failing to assert it in the trial court, to either the court or the jury.

This Court should reject the trial court's proposed rule, which deviated from *Stewart* based on the relative sizes of the supplier and intermediary. 18 RT 6617:25-28, 6618:24-26, 6620:24-6621:4 (*Stewart* facts "reversed in this case"). Under the proper rule, the relative size of the parties is just one fact that may affect the reasonableness of reliance on the intermediary to warn.

(1) Asserting the sophisticated-user defense alone was insufficient.

In the trial court, Special Electric on nonsuit expressly asserted only the sophisticated-user defense (under *Johnson*). 1 AA 65-67. By the time of that motion (February 2011), the discrete sophisticated-intermediary defense was well defined by comment n (1965) and California cases from *Macias* (1995) to *Stewart* (2010). But Special Electric ignored the defense. *Id.*

Indeed, when Special Electric was confronted with the defense (under *Stewart*), it insisted that the defense and *Stewart* do not apply. 2 AA 323:7-22 (nonsuit reply: "*Johnson* and the obvious danger rule control"); 323:7-22 (same). It continues to so insist in this Court. OB at 18-21.

Special Electric is wrong. The only potentially applicable defense here was sophisticated-intermediary, which does not arise from *Johnson* or the sophisticated-user rationale. *See Stewart*, 190 Cal.App.4th at 28.

Hence, Special Electric's assertion of the sophisticated-user defense did not suffice to preserve the sophisticated-intermediary defense, which Special Electric forfeited.

(2) Special Electric presented neither defense to the jury.

Even if asserting the sophisticated-user defense could somehow suffice to assert the sophisticated-intermediary defense, Special Electric forfeited both factual defenses by failing to present either to the jury.

A party asserting a factual claim or defense is responsible for obtaining an applicable jury finding. Evid. Code § 500; Code Civ. Proc. § 624. Even if the evidence (or instructions) "might support such a finding," if the finding is not part of the verdict, the claim or defense is forfeited. *Myers Bldg. Indus., Ltd. v. Interface Tech., Inc.* (1993) 13 Cal.App.4th 949, 961-

962; see Behr v. Redmond (2011) 193 Cal.App.4th 517, 530 (plaintiff is "responsible" for verdict form "on her case," but it is "incumbent on" defendant to "see that findings" on a proffered defense "were included in the verdict").

Without question, sophisticated-user is a factual defense to be decided by the jury (under CACI 1244).

Special Electric moved for nonsuit on the defense, asserting "no dispute" on Johns-Manville's sophistication. 1 AA 65-67.

But Special Electric never made that factual defense (or sophisticated-intermediary) part of its case to the jury. It did not request CACI 1244 or any other instruction embracing either defense. *See* Opinion at 18 ("no instruction" that "its duty to warn would be discharged" upon "adequate warnings" to the "intermediary"). Nor did it seek or obtain a verdict form addressing the defense.

Accordingly, that factual defense was simply not made part of the case. Special Electric thus forfeited the defense, which could not properly support a post-verdict order negating the failure-to-warn verdict.

b. Special Electric failed to prove the elements of either defense.

Next, even if Special Electric somehow preserved the sophisticated-intermediary defense by asserting sophisticated-user, it failed to prove the elements of either defense – let alone to present undisputed evidence justifying a nonsuit or JNOV.

An order granting either motion is reviewed under the same standards. The reviewing court evaluates the order "by applying the same standard that governs a trial court's hearing of the motion." Opinion at 11 (citing Hauter

v. Zogarts (1975) 14 Cal.3d 104, 110). Motions for nonsuit (and directed verdict) "test the sufficiency of the plaintiff's case," *i.e.*, whether "the evidence" could "justify a judgment for plaintiff." Loral Corp. v. Moyes (1985) 174 Cal.App.3d 268, 272; Brassinga v. City of Mountain View (1998) 66 Cal.App.4th 195, 210; Opinion at 11. Likewise, JNOV is properly granted "whenever a motion for a directed verdict" would have been proper (Code Civ. Proc. § 629) – *i.e.*, when "there is no substantial evidence to support the verdict." See Campbell v. Cal-Gard Surety Servs., Inc. (1998) 62 Cal.App.4th 563, 570.

On all of these motions, the court must accept as true the "evidence most favorable to the plaintiff" and resolve any evidentiary conflicts and draw any reasonable inferences in the plaintiff's favor. *Loral Corp.*, 174 Cal.App.3d at 272; *Brassinga*, 66 Cal.App.4th at 210; *Fountain Valley Chat. Blanc Homeowner's Assn. v. Department of Vets. Affs.* (1998) 67 Cal.App.4th 743, 750; Opinion at 11.

Under these standards, the meager evidence adduced by Special Electric failed to warrant nonsuit or JNOV on the sophisticated-intermediary (or -user) defense.

(1) No warning given; sophistication not established.

The first element of the sophisticated-intermediary defense is that the supplier must give an adequate warning to the intermediary. *E.g., Stewart*, 190 Cal.App.4th at 29-30. Without dispute here, substantial evidence supported the jury's finding that Special Electric did not give such a warning to Johns-Manville. 1 AA 146; Opinion at 19 and n.19. Although Special Electric asserted below that it gave an adequate warning (*e.g.*, 1 AA 64-65;

RB at 19-22), it has abandoned that assertion here. *E.g.*, OB at 12 n.6 (now calling lack of warning "irrelevant").

Instead, Special Electric contends that its obligation to give a warning was satisfied because Johns-Manville was "sophisticated," *i.e.* it "already" knew everything about asbestos. *E.g.*, OB at 12.

The cases suggest that such sophistication, if established factually, could suffice as a substitute for giving the intermediary a warning. *E.g.*, *Pfeifer*, 164 Cal.Rptr.3d at 132 (discussing "intermediary's sophistication").

But Special Electric did not establish Johns-Manville's sophistication about Special Electric's asbestos. Specifically, although Johns-Manville was a large asbestos company, no evidence showed that it was sophisticated about Special Electric's crocidolite asbestos or that it was not susceptible to Special Electric's sales pitch that such asbestos was "safer" than the chrysotile Johns-Manville mined and sold. E.g., 6 RT 1683:6-28, 1693:6-10, 1731-1732.

Moreover, because Special Electric did not present the issue of Johns-Manville's sophistication to the jury, the evidentiary record was not developed. If the issue had been raised, plaintiffs could have proffered evidence that Johns-Manville was not "sophisticated" about crocidolite asbestos. But it was not raised, so plaintiffs did not present any such evidence.

¹² Special Electric's claim that it "could not have told Johns-Manville anything about asbestos" (OB at 6) cites evidence from a Johns-Manville employee that (1) was specific to the employee and thus does not apply to Johns-Manville generally, and (2) did not address crocidolite. *See* 9 RT 2651:3-6.

(2) No evidence of reasonable reliance.

Next, even if the underdeveloped evidence of Johns-Manville's "sophistication" satisfied the first (warning) element, Special Electric presented zero evidence that it actually or reasonably relied on Johns-Manville to warn end users. *See* Opinion at 23 n.23 ("never claimed to have relied," and the "record contains ample evidence that any such reliance" would have "been unjustified"); OB at 22-24 (not claiming any actual reliance).

Moreover, the Opinion specifically notes ample evidence that Special Electric did not so rely on Johns-Manville: "far from reasonably relying on Johns-Manville to warn potential users of its asbestos, Special Electric was itself engaged in an effort to conceal the dangers of its asbestos" and had "no intention of making any effort to warn potential users or obtaining Johns-Manville's aid in doing so." Opinion at 26.

Further, a jury could find that, under the circumstances, Special Electric could not have relied on Johns-Manville <u>reasonably</u>, as comment n illustrates. Because Johns-Manville would lose a business "advantage" by warning downstream customers, it was not reliable to do so. Rest.2d (Torts) 388, cmt. n (3rd par.). And because the danger posed by the product was so "grave," a jury would be justified in finding that any actual reliance on Johns-Manville to warn was necessarily unreasonable. *Id.* (4th par.).

Lacking any evidence of reasonable reliance, Special Electric asserts that it could "presume" that Johns-Manville would warn, and it had "no reason to believe" it would not.¹³ OB at 21-24. Indeed, Special Electric

¹³ Special Electric erroneously relies on the generic rule that people can "presume" that another will "perform his duty and obey the law" (OB at 21),

stresses, Johns-Manville "knew the hazards," so of course it "would accordingly convey a warning." OB at 22.

But Special Electric presented no evidence that Johns-Manville was reliable or that its hazard-knowledge made it reliable to warn. Indeed, Special Electric "knew the hazards," but it had no trouble selling the product without a warning. A jury could find Johns-Manville equally unreliable.¹⁴

Moreover, even if Special Electric could somehow "presume" Johns-Manville's reliability, it still presented no evidence that it <u>actually</u> relied. For example, a Special Electric witness could have testified that the company chose not to warn because it was confident that Johns-Manville would do so. No such evidence was presented.

c. No policy reason exists to exempt Special Electric from liability.

This Court should apply the existing, principled rules governing assertedly "sophisticated" intermediaries. No policy reason exists to exempt Special Electric here.

The record shows that Special Electric was highly culpable. It knew its asbestos was hazardous. But it made no effort to warn anyone – not end users or its direct customers. To the contrary, the evidence shows that it

a concept that applies to assertions of comparative negligence. *E.g.*, *Celli v. Sports Car Club of Amer.*, *Inc.* (1972) 29 Cal.App.3d 511, 523 (cited at OB 21). If this was the rule, upstream product suppliers could always avoid liability, not just regarding warnings but even by "presuming" that the midstream manufacturer would "perform his duty" and not market a defective product.

¹⁴ Evoking the trial court's analogies (18 RT 6618:4-12), a jury could find it unreasonable to rely on Newcastle to warn about the dangers of coal or the Pope to preach against Catholicism.

generated business with false claims of safety that it knew were not true. In truth, Special Electric did not care one iota about product users.

But Special Electric now seeks to avoid liability by implicating Johns-Manville as the only cause of Webb's harm. Without a doubt, Johns-Manville was culpable too. But its culpability does not eliminate Special Electric's. *See Stewart*, 190 Cal.App.4th at 30 ("If both [supplier] Union Carbide and the sophisticated intermediary failed to give warnings, that should not absolve Union Carbide of responsibility.").

The jury properly apportioned the tortfeasors' relative culpability at 49% for Johns-Manville and just 18% for Special Electric. 1 AA 148. But the jury properly rejected Special Electric's claim that Johns-Manville was the sole ("superseding") cause of Webb's harm. *See* 1 AA 111 (instruction); *Jacoves v. United Merch. Corp.* (1992) 9 Cal.App.4th 88, 111 (if "intervening conduct is simply the failure to protect a person from a harm that was directly threatened by the defendant's prior negligence," it is "not a superseding cause").

Special Electric already avoided much greater liability by implicating Johns-Manville. No greater reduction, let alone elimination of liability, is warranted.¹⁵

This Court should affirm the Opinion's reversal of the JNOV on substantive grounds.

¹⁵ Special Electric also argues here, for the first time, that it had no warning duty because its asbestos was "not being put to its intended use." OB at 26 n.9. Never raised before, this factual claim is forfeited; nor was the asbestos (itself harmful) a mere part of a "harmful combined use." *See id*.

II.

The JNOV's procedural error: The Opinion correctly holds that the JNOV was procedurally invalid.

The Opinion correctly reversed the judgment NOV also because it was procedurally invalid.

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